
UlVITED NATI O NS 

ECONOrv1fC 
AND 

Distr. 
GENERAL 

E/CN.4/ SR.446 
19 April 1954 SOCIAL COUNCIL 

ll iii1UHIItllt11HIIfttlllll tfllll ltlflllllllfUi t llti i HIIII IUUIIII1ff•lfiiiiiHIII"IIIItiiiiiii'II'IHIIII ... . ,., I I 0 ORIGINAL : ENGLI SH 
• 1 •Uoll I II Il l tiiUI I I 4 •• I II f IU II 1 j I Oilllt i tOoiiiOI 

CONTENTS 

54-Q9253 
(11 P• ) 

COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS 

Tenth Session 

SUHMARY RF.CORD OF THE FOUR HUNDRED AND FORTY - SIXTH MEETING 

Held at Headquarters, New York, 
on Wednesday, 24 March 1954 , at 11 a .m. 

Draft i nternational covenants on human right s and measures of 

impl ementat ion: clauses relat ing t o the admissi bi lit y and 

non-admissibi lity of reservations (E/ 2447, E/CN.4/677 and 696, 
E/ CN.4/ L.345, 348- 351) (continued) 



E/CN.4/SR .446 
English 
Page 2 

PRESENT: 

Cha irman: 

Rapport eur: 

Members: 

Mr . AZMI 

Mr . INGLES 

Mr . i-lHITLAM 

Mr . NISC/r 

Mr . ORTEGA 

Mr. CHENG PAONAN 

Mr . GHORBAL 

Mr . JlNIGNY 

Mr . CARAYANNIS 

Mr . DAYAL 

Mr. RIZK 

Mr . TYABJI 

Mr . BIRECKI 

Mr . ASI ROGLU 

Mr. SAPOZHNIKOV 

Mr . MOROZOV 

Mr. HOARE 

Mrs . LORD 

(Egypt) 

Phili ppines 

Australia 

Belgium 

Chi le 

Chino. 

Egypt 

France 

Greece 

India 

Lebanon 

Pakist an 

Pol and 

Turkey 

Ukrai nian Soviet Socialist Republic 

Union of Soviet Soci alist Republics 

United Kingdom of Great Brit ain and 
Northern Ireland 

United St at es of America 

Mr . MONTERO BUSTAMANTE Urueuay 

Representat i ves of specialized agenci es: 

Mr. MANNING 

Mr. ARNALDO 

Internat i ona l Labour Organisation 

United Nations Educat i ona l, Scienti f i c 
and Cultur a l Organizat ion 

Repr esent at ives of non-government a l or gani zations: 

Ca t egory B: 

Mr . JOFTES 

Mr . JACOBY 

Mrs. POLSTEIN ) 
Mr . RONALDS ) 

Mr . PENCE 

Co-ordi nating Board of Jewi sh 
Organizat ions 

'1-!orl d Jewish Congr ess 

World Union for Progressive J uda ism 

\.Jorld 1s Alliance of Young Men 1s 
Christ ian Associations 



PRESE~~ : (cont 1d) 

Secretari at: Mr. HUMPHREY 

Mr. SCHHELB 

Mrs. BRUCE 
Mr . DAS 

E/CN.4/SR. 446 
English 
Pnge 3 

Direct or of the Division of 
Human Rights 

Deputy Director of t he Divisi on of 
Human Rights 

Secret aries of the Commi ssion 



E/CN .~/SR . 446 
English 
Page 4 

DRJI.FT I NTERNA'riON.AL COVENANTS ON HU1AN RIGHTS AND ~&SURES OF IMPLEMEr;TATION: 

Cl AUSES RELATING TO THE ADMISSIBILITY AND NON-ADMISSIBILITY OF RESERVATIONS 

(E/2447, E/CN. 4/677 and 696, E/CN .4/L .345, 348- 351) (continued) 

Mr. SAPOZHNIKOV (Ukra inian Soviet Social ist Republ i c ) sa id tha t no one 

could deny that under int e rnational l aw t he sovereign r i ght to make reservations 

t o treaties wa8 ~recisely as great as the sovereign right to conclude t reaties . 

There had a l so been general r ecognition of the desirability of admit t i ng 

reservat ions t o the covenant s in orde r to obtain as many ratificat i ons as possible 

by enabling Stat es which object ed to some of the articles to accede with 

reservat ions. Scme delegations had, however, i nterpret ed the legal consequences 

of reservati ons in a n:anner inconsistent vith t he pri nc i::_:lle of national 

sovereignty. Paragraph l of t he United Ki ngdom draft art icle (E/CN .4/ L.345) 

recogni zed t hat any Stat.e might make reservations but went on to restrict t hem to 

part III of t he covenant while paragraph 4 added t he proviso t hat tvTo-thir ds of 

t he St ates part ies must accept t hem. The Soviet Union and Polish representatives 

had a lready shmm the unsoundness of such a concept; i t need only be added that 

the Unit ed Ki ngdom proposal would depr i ve Stat es of their sover ei3n r i ght to make 

\·lho.t reservations they deemed f i t. 

The process of drafting the covenants in the Commission on Human Rights and 

in the General Assembly had shmm t he need for reservations . The articles had 

:: ~c~ :::.dopt.::C. by r;;;;.jo:..-i ty vot0, Lilt: unly w~y i n which 'the m~nority, which still 

objected to certain art:i.cles, could accede to t he covenants v1as by t he use of 

reservations. 

Obviousl y, t he country maki ng such reservat ions could hardly ant icipat e 

t hat the majorit y; uhether a s jmple or a two-thirds majority, 1-roul d subsequent l y 

ni):ree to accept them. Thus; if t he United Kingdom proposa l were adopted, 

St a tes in the dissent ing mi nority would be faced with t he following a l ternat i ve : 

either t o 'vithdraH t heir r eservat ions and accede to the covenant despite t heir 

discgreement, or not t o accede to the covenant at all. 

The Philippine delegation ' s approach was some"rhat different from t hat of 

the United Kingdom del egation . I t f elt t hat t he art i cle should be based on t he 



E/CN .4/SR .446 
English 
Page 5 

principles stated in the International Court of Justice's Advisory Opinion on 

Reservations to the Convention on the Prevent ion and Punishment of the Cr ime of 

Genocide (28 May 1951). That approach was as cont radi ctory as the Opinion 

itself. The Cot~t had based i ts Q9inion on the consideration that a s many 

"States as possible should participate in <:!. hu.manito.rinn convent: on and tho2-t the 

contracting parties had the right t o make reservations even lf nu sv~~ifi~ 

reservations clause existed, but i t had also decided that the same majori ty which 

bad rejected the minority ' s origina l proposals should be permitted to determine 

uhether a rese rvation was incompatible with the object and purpose of the 

convention . The Court had held t hat a State might be excluded from a convention 

because it had been compelled t o make such a reservation, but i t had sugBested no 

criteria to determine incompatibility. The contradiction 1·Tas insoluble, because 

only a sovereign State i tself could decide the condi tiotJs on which i t \muld accede 

to a convention. The proposa l to place on the International Court of Justice the 

responsibility of dete rmining what r eservations were admissibl e must be rejected, 

for neither the Court nor any other international organ could be asked to decide 

on a matter which was the prerogative of a sovereign Stat e . He agreed wi th the 

Soviet Union delegation 1 s view t hat if reservations -.1ere made, a convention 

should, in relat ions between the St at es which had made the r eservat ion and all 

other States parties, be deemed to be in force in r espect of all i ts provisions 

except those in r egard to which the reservat ions had been made . 

Mr. INGLES (Philippines) said that the Ukrainian representati ve's 

objection to the Philippine position was based mainly on t he alleged contradictory 

nature of the Advisory Opinion. That Opinion summed up all the arguments that 

had been advanced for the admissibility or non-admissibility of reservations t o 

the Genocide Convention, which were similar to those adduced with respect to the 

covenants . The Opinion then sought to find a compromise· between two extreme 

views, namely, that reservations could not be admitted if the integrity of the 

convention was to be maintained and that reservations must be admitted if the 

sovereign right of the States parties to accede wi th what ever reser vations t hey 

deemed fit were t o be conceded in order to obtain as many ratifications as 

possible. The Court ' s rejoinder to the type of argument advanced by the Ukra inian 

r epresentative was given succinctly on page 24 of the Advisory Opinion (I.C.J. 

Reports 1951). In particular, the Court held that "it is obvious that so extreme 

a n application of the idea of Sta t e sover eignty could lead to a complete disregard 

of the object and purpose of the Convention". 



E/CN.4/ SR.446 
Engli sh 
Page 6 

f"r. !vlOROZOV (Union of Soviet Socialist R·-publics) said that the 

LJnited Kingdom pruposa.l I·Tas incons i s t ent with t he general views expr essed by 

r.he Uni ted Kingdcra representative, who, if he were t o be logical - a remark 

i-lhid, c.~ppl ~,.,'\. al.:;o tv the Ph~ lippine r epresentative - would have t o oppose 

reservations of any kind to the dr aft covenant on civil and pol iti cal rights. 

Yet t he lofty princ i ples which the United Kingdom representative consider ed 

inviolable were enunciated in that 'Jery port of the draft cove ndllt - part III -

t o \·lh i ch he vlould pe rmit r eservat i ons t o be made . As there was no reason of 

pr i nc ·iple to allow reservations t o t hat part alone, the r eason must be of a 

~ore practical nAture : it wa s no doubt that part t hat contained pr ovisions 

unaccept abl e t o t he United Kingdcm. Moreover, t here was no ground to thi~~ 

t hat re servations to part III would bear on such unimportant poi nt s as tne 

Unitwl Kinedcm representative had i ndicated. The Unit ed Kingdom proposal 

vlainly constituted a rr.et hod o f permj tting some States to make the r Pservations 

they fcund necEssary and preventing other Stat es frcm following the same course. 

Furthermore, ·t he United Kingdom representative should be opposed to 

reservations because t.e took the view that ratification of the draft euvenant 

would rr.ean surr ender of a Statet s sove r e ie;nty where human rights were concerned; 

.r:~tieL·v8.t i.Uub wuulu t.hen be t.antamounr, t o a partl.al retaining of' sovereignty 

by indirect means. 

lu hi.b uwn v J.tM, a re::H: rvar.ion \..ras an act wnereby a State as serted its 

sovere i 8-L:. [ight t o enter into t.rP.R.t. i Pf; l'lnn t .n n<;>tl?rminl? +.he t.er!!!s c-f these 

trent .ies. That was an accepted principl e of classical internat ional lav, 

l.rlhich no one had de nied. In signing any international treaty and volunt arily 

acceptjne; obligat ions derivi ng frcm it, a State exercised its sovereign will . 

A State whi ch r atified the draft covenant would, of its own accord, assume the 

obligation t o i mprove the lot of its people; it would not, contrary to the 

cl aims of t he Un i ted Kingdcm representative, surrender one jot of its 

sover e ignty by S<.l doing. 

The United Kingdom r epresentative had suggested t hat under the USSR 

amendment (E/CN.4/L.349) each State woul d in effect be wr i ting the t erms of its 

own covenant . That was obviousl y i ncorrect for no State would be able tc write 



E/CN .4/SR.i.J46 
English 
Page 7 

any new provisions into the covenant; at most , some States would accept limited 

obligations wit h regard to some of t he existing provis i ons. The uwenant 

would neither become a laughing stock nor have a different mean i ng for each 

State, as some representatives had claimed. 'l'he procedure advocated by the 

USSR had been followed :in t.he past, with0ut A.ny 0f the di ff iculti.t:s Hhich some 

representatives appeared t o apprehend, and there was no reason t o thi nk thA.t 

the situation with regard to the draft covenant would be any diff erent . 

The provision in the United Kingdom proposal that reservations must be 

accepted by two-thirds of the States parties to the covenant was unrealistic, 

s ince many of the controversial articles of the covenant had been adopted by 

very small majorities . The r esul t might well be t c delay the covenant' s entry 

into force indefinitely, to say nothing of postponing or preventing r atl.fication 

by all Member States, which was the goal to be sought. 

He had not yet had time to study the text of the jojnt proposal (E/GN.4/L35l) 

butwas pre pared to make some preliminary remarks on tllat text as expla ined at 

earlier meetings by the Phili ppine representative. The authors of the text 

were aware of the inadequac i es of the United Ki ngdom proposal, but in thei r 

endeavour to make the covenant acceptable to a larger number of States they 

fell back on the decision of the I nternat i onal Court of Justice wtth regard to 

the Convention on Genocide. vlhile the Court had quite properly beld t ba.t States 

should not be deterred f r om ratifying that Convent i on, it had made the 

admissibjl ity of reservations contingent on a vague criterion - t hat of 

compatibility with the purpose and object of the Convent10n - which i t had 

wisely forborne from defining . Where t he draft covenant was concerned , the 

definition would be even more difficult to establish. Furthermore, t he Court 

had left it to States to decide whether or not a reservation to t he Convention 

on Genocide should be accepted . Under the joint proposal , t he Court would be 

asked to take the decision; whereas in his opinion, the Court was not competent 

to settle such problems . 

Although the j oint proposal did not limit reservations to part III of the 

draft covenant, as did the United Kingdom proposal, i t too represented an attempt 

to impose on States terms which they might not be r eady t o accept. Th~ Joint 
proposal was therefore not acceptable, no more tha!:l was the Uni ted Kingdom t ext. 



E/ CN . 4/ SR .446 
Eng l ish 
Page 8 

His delegat ion the r efore maintained i t s a mendment wh i ch \vas based on 

generally recognized f_)r inc: i pl es of internat ional la11 and was des i gned t o per mit 

the greatest number of St a t es t o ratify the dr aft covenant. 

Jo.ir . ~.,iHI'ILJ.IJ-1 (Australia) s tated that his delegation yielded t o none in 

i t ::.; r esf:ed: for the rr inc iples of i nternational lav. Nevertheless, i t considered 

that those principles must be interpret ed in t he context of hist orical 

development s and i t agreed vith the widely held vie>v tha t int er nat i onal la\.,r 1-:as 

but one of several valuable a nd important instrument s of ser vice t o t he modern 

wor l d. The Austr~lian delegation did not consider t hat a ny violat ion of the 

prl.ncip l.es of' c las::;ical i nte r national law was i nvo lved i n making some concessions 

to thl? ~ollecti vi t y of the St a t es 1-1hich might become parties t o the cover.ont s . 

The debate hAd shown t.h.r.d; t hP. mA.jor ity of t.he Commission recognized the 

ad.mi .ssib:i. l it~J· of re3ervati ons. Once t hat i dea was admitted , however ~ tl1e 

d i fficult-y a r ose of determi n i ng the ext ent and. nature of admiss i b l e r eservat ions . 

As the Unit ed Kingdom representative had pointed out, j_t would har d ly be possible 

to <::stabllsh !:1. hierar chy of articles and t o decide t hat r eserva t ions wc•Jld be 

ad mi.ssir.>le i n respec t of some and inadmiss ible i n r espect of other s . In t hat 

connexion 1 the Aust ralian delegat ion agreed wi th t he Unit ed Kingdom 

r e presentative ' s conce pt of a commun i t y of t reat y - making St ates bound i:Jy common 

inter ests and corror a t e feelings of fellowship. That concept did not ent ail 

a"or0gat1.on of sover e 1gnt:y, as t:he O~Sfi representat:1ve nad 1mpl1ed; on t:ne 

.-~ontrB.r:J' > by ?cc·e::t ing t l,at . ~'~"~ncept, the rart ies would mark their recognition of 

the need to m.g"l\c,> concPssjons to the group, of t he interdependence of the 

contemporary i nt e rnaU ona l community a nd of the f act t hat peace a nd secur i t y 

cou ld be achieved only by det ermined efforts t o pr omot e t he economic and social 

advancement of all peoples , in accor dance \vi th the Charter . Peace \Vas indeed 

one and indivi sible a nd t he respons ib ility f or ma i nt aini ng peace rest ed with a ll 

nations, individually and collect i vely. Signatories of t he cove nant s \vou l d be 

St ates ~<hich felt t ha t s t r ong bond of commun i t y 11ith ot her s . 



E/CN .4/SR . 4~6 
English 
Page 9 

The Philippine representative _ _,ht ly observed that the adv:isory opi nion 

of t he Internat ional Court of Just ice on reservat i ons to the Convention on 

Genocide, although undeniably limited in scope , touched on a l1 t he princiral 

~uestions with whi~h t he Commission was confr~nted wi th regard t o c.es ervations 

to the covenants . rm-- . majority opinion of t lJ1-: Court re -:;:;:-esented a r, attempt 

to t ake the middle roe-'~ between the two extreme poi nts of v i ev . Neverthe l Pss , 

t he question remained_ how the object s and purposes -. .:> _,.._,,. .co ... ~ ... . ..... . 1.- .: ....... _ .... . 1 
I,JJ. OU-....:U .J.. c:J..L. - .L Cb.C1.L1.UQ dJJU 

detailed multilateral i nstruments as t he covenants could be defi ned . The 

Uni ted Ki11gdom pr o:1osal prov ided a more satisfactory and easier s ol ution of t he 

problem and was f .. -·t;her justifi ed by the f act t.hat t he Court itself had decided 

that one m~tter - the problem of asylum - would be better sol ved without judi cial 

action but by negotiations between the parties concerned . The example of t he 

problem of asylum showed what could be achieved by patient negot iations betwee~ 

sovereign S-cates acti ng with determination t o reach agreement, in a spirit of 

understanding . 

The single judge of the Court who had submitted a clissentjng o pinion had 

taken the posit ion that nei ther t he view t hat reservations , t o be valid, must be 

accepted by all t he contracting States nor t he v iew, accepted by the Court, t hat 

reservations were inadmissible if they were not com~atible with t he aims and 

objects of t he Convention was satisfactory, since the reserving Stat es cou l d 

argue that their reser vations were compatible with t hose ai.ms and objects a nd 

the ob jecting States might allege the opposite , but he had pointed out that the 

Court, if i t were obliged to sett l e t he disputes, would fi.nd i t self so 

overbtrrdened with controversies that i ts functions would be utterly di s t orted . 

That opin i on was a further argument in favour of leaving the parties t o settle 

disputes among themselves and resorting t o the Court on questions of prj_nciple 

only . On such questions of principle , the approach t o t he Court might well be 

through the Economic and Social Council . 

Mr. JUVIGNY (France), commenting on t he four-Power draft article 

(E/CN.4/L.351L observed t hat the provis i on in paragraph l that reservat lc1ns 

might be made to any par t of the covenant. was unacceptabl€ t o hi.s delega.t l~1n , ·r c.-;: .. 

the r easons he had given in his remarrl:s on the Un:i.ted Kiugclom proposal t lia.t 



E/CN .4/SR. 446 
English 
Pa~~ lO 

reservadons should be l imited t o the [Jr ovis ions of part III of t he covenant . 

Sec:ond l;/ , t:aragraphs 2 arld 3 of the joint draft gave States the discretionary 

power of ·:Jbjecting t o reservations and of r eferr i ng disputes concerning the 

:::ompat ibility of r eservat i one· with the ob j ect and purpose of the covenant to 

t he I nt ernat iona l Court of Justic..;; the f act t hat tr1e procedure was op cional 

left a gap in t he mechanism . Thirdly, t he procedure outlined i n paragraph 3 

''oul d lead, not to t he closely knit community of States envisaged by t he 

Un i ted Kingdom representative, but to t he formation of a multiplicity of 

confl icting group~ , ::;-:>me of which would accept certain reservations whil e 

G~ ject ing to ot hers . I n practice, the contcacting St ates would be parties t o 

an i nf i nite number of covenants. Such a s i tuation woul d not be pr opitious to 

the stabil i ty of obli gat i ons under t he .covenant or t o t he orderly development 

of j urisprudence on the bas i s of the articles of the covenant . Moreover, 

the practical consequences of such a procedure would militate against t he 

princlple of the universality ot' the covenants, which had. been so s taunchly 

defended by some of t he sponsor s of the draft . 

Fourthly, t he procedure proposed in paragraph 4 would give r i se to 

considerabl e confusion . For example, i f eighteen States accepted a reservation 

lJlit t wo St at es ob(iccted t o it, the reser~v-ing Gtate and t he Gtates accept i ng 

the reservation would consider t hat the reserving State was a party to the 
..., ...... ~ ... -.Y"t •· -.+ .. 
'-' V V \,.LJUU. v J i f, ho¥:ever , the object ing States r eferred the r eservation t o the 

Int ernational Court and if the Court dec ided t hat the reservation was not 

compatible wi.t b t he objects and pur poses of t he covenant, the reservi ng State 

and the States which had accepted t he reservation would be bound, as self 

cons idered par t ies t o the covenant, to a reservat i on which had been pronounced 

i ncompat i ble wit h the object and purpos e of that ins trument. 

Fifthly, t he draft arti c le contained t he same shortcomi ng as the 

Unit ed Kingdom pro posal : name ly, that once a res ervation bad been pronounced 

t o be compat ible with t he object and purpose of the covenant, i t would not be 

incumbent on t he reserv:i.ng State t o t ake any further a ct ion or to make any 

effor t t o remove the cause of t he reservation . 



E/CN.4/SR .446 
Englis h 
rage ll 

Fina l l y , he drew attent ion t~ c..rticles 44 , 46 and 47 of +.he d r aft cov~r.ant, 

which provided for r ecourse t o t he Internat i onal Court cf .Just ice . 

of reservations could not be int erpreted as falling wi thin the pur·.'iew of 

artic l e 47, but i n view of the fact t hat t he pr ov ision€ of faragraph 3 of t re 

joint draft wer e discretionary t he s ponsor s ,night usef u l ly cons ide r bo\·1 th1' 

pr ovi sions of +.hat artic l e coul d be c ombined with t hose of rar agraph 3 of their 

pr o posal . 

Mr. ?H <."~T (Belgium ) pointed out t hat the multiplicity t o wh ich t he 

Fre nch represE:tH ..... vive had r eferred was the natural consequence of all 

reserv~t~ons an~ applied equa lly t o t he Un i ted Ki ngdom and t he four-PowPr draft 

art i c l es. 

He did !'lnt consider that t here was any justification f0r t h.; t'li.h t.'l'etl~~~·wl·:, 

prov1.sion ir. t he l ast phrase of paragraph 4 of the ,ioint draf t . St a.tt-8 

accepti~g r eservations must of necessity considPr t hat t he r.,~,.; e. t·v i ng ~;tate ..... ~s 

a party t o t he covenant . 

Mr . JUVIGNY (France ) agreed t hat a c ertA.i n mnlt i plicity was the 

natural effect of t he admission of reserva t i ons . Nevert he l ess , i G view of t he 

ve:st scope of t he covenants , i t s eemed t o be e ssential t o place somE: res tri.eti•m 

on reservations , as was done in t he Unit ed Ki ngdom dr af t by t he system o:~ 

acceptance by two-thir ds of the parties . 

Mr . HOARE (United Kingdom) sai d tha t t he conf usion rightly d·~r:.Lm·ed \J,Y 

t he French r epresentative a r ose f r om paragra ph 4 of t he j•') int draft ~1·t i<: i e ; 

which div ided States p arties int o separate and unrelat ed gr oups . Tile 

United Kingdom draft contained no such provi sion, but furn ished a safeguard 

against the danger of mult iplic ity . 

The meeting r ose a t l p . m. 




